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INTRODUCTION 

Defendant Joseph Robertson constructed a series of ponds by dumping soil 

and rocks into stream beds and wetlands on privately-owned land and U.S. Forest 

Service land in Montana.  In blocking the flow of water downstream, he damaged 

Forest Service property and the Jefferson River watershed.  Robertson knew that his 

activity required a Clean Water Act permit – a requirement he repeatedly ignored.  A 

jury convicted Robertson of illegally discharging dredged or fill material into waters of 

the United States, see 33 U.S.C. § 1344, and the district court found that his actions 

“repeatedly demonstrated that he has no respect for the law.”  Id. at 98 (ER 275). 

Robertson is now trying to escape liability by claiming that, after he caused this 

illegal pollution, a change in the case law implied that the Clean Water Act should be 

interpreted more narrowly.  In Northern California River Watch v. City of Healdsburg, 496 

F.3d 993, 999 (9th Cir. 2007), this Court endorsed the concurring opinion of Justice 

Kennedy in Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006), as a standard for identifying 

“waters of the United States” that are covered by the Act.  Robertson argues that this 

Court’s recent en banc decision in United States v. Davis, 825 F.3d 1014 (2016), casts 

doubt on Healdsburg.  But it is fully consistent with both Davis and with due process 

for this Court to continue to applying the established standard to Robertson.  That 

standard was in place throughout his activities, was used at trial, and is still valid.  The 

government offered sufficient and admissible evidence to prove Robertson’s violation 

of the Act under Justice Kennedy’s standard, and his conviction must be affirmed.

  Case: 16-30178, 01/18/2017, ID: 10269518, DktEntry: 32, Page 11 of 71



2 

 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

The indictment alleged criminal violations of 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) and 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1361.  The district court had jurisdiction over those offenses under 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3231.  The district court entered its amended judgment on July 26, 2016 (ER 288).  

Robertson field a timely notice of appeal on August 1, 2016 (ER 374).  This Court has 

appellate jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. The government demonstrated that Robertson’s activities occurred in 

“waters of the United States” by showing that they occurred in waters that 

have a significant nexus with traditional navigable waters.  This standard is 

based on Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion in Rapanos, as applied in 

Healdsburg.  May the government establish Clean Water Act jurisdiction1 

using Justice Kennedy’s “significant nexus” standard, either because 

Healdsburg is still good law or because Rapanos supports that standard? 

2. The standard for identifying “waters of the United States” has been 

established in this circuit since 2006, and government officials repeatedly 

warned Robertson that his activities would require a Clean Water Act 

                                           

1  In this context, the term “jurisdiction” refers to federal jurisdiction over 
particular waters pursuant to the Clean Water Act. 
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permit.  Under these circumstances, did Robertson have fair notice that his 

conduct was illegal?   

3. Did the district court abuse its discretion by allowing Todd Tillinger to 

testify as a government expert about facts related to the “significant nexus” 

standard, and by excluding other documents as irrelevant, prejudicial, or 

confusing to the jury? 

4. After Robertson’s first trial, he sought acquittal on the grounds of 

insufficient evidence.  The district court denied that motion.  May 

Robertson appeal that decision and, if so, was the government’s evidence at 

the first trial sufficient to support a conviction? 

5. The district court ordered Robertson to pay restitution based on the 

government’s estimate of the cost of restoring the waters affected by his 

activities.  Does Robertson’s conviction on Count II support the entire 

restitution award? 

6. The district court ordered Robertson to bear part of the cost of his defense 

based on its finding that he had sufficient assets to do so.  Was that order an 

abuse of discretion? 
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LEGAL BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. ROBERTSON’S ILLEGAL ACTIVITIES 

Joseph Robertson lived on the “White Pine Lode,” land that he owns near 

Basin, Montana.  To the south of White Pine Lode is the “Mohawk” parcel, part of 

the Beaverhead-Deerlodge National Forest, and south of the Mohawk parcel is the 

“Manhattan Lode,” owned by a third party.  See Gov. Ex. 42 (infra p. 5).  A stream 

running through all three properties flows through Cataract Creek to the Boulder 

River, and then to the navigable-in-fact Jefferson River.  Tillinger Tr. at 401-02, 406 

(ER 1252-53, 1257); Spoon Tr. at 248, 256-57 (ER 1099, 1107-08).  Robertson has a 

pattern of nearly ten years of unauthorized activities on the National Forest lands near 

his own property.  See Sentencing Tr. at 81 (ER 258).   

In 2008, Robertson sought permission to construct a pond on National Forest 

land, which the Forest Service denied.  See Sexton Tr. at 165-69 (ER 1016-20).  

Instead, he obtained a state permit to construct the pond on the Manhattan Lode.  

Montana state wildlife official Ron Spoon visited the site and found a stream that, in 

his opinion, was likely to flow year-round.  Spoon Tr. at 243 (ER 1094).  To protect 

that stream, the state permit authorized only “off-stream” impacts and prohibited the 

deposit of excavated material in wetlands.  Spoon testified that Robertson understood 

that limitation.  Id. at 243, 246-47, 254 (ER 1094, 1097-98, 1105).  That permit expired 

in 2009.  See Sentencing Tr. at 82 (ER 259). 
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In the fall of 2013, Special Agent Jacqueline Fisher of the Forest Service was 

inspecting Robertson’s compliance with his sentence for a misdemeanor conviction of 

unauthorized construction of a barn and culvert on National Forest lands.  Fisher Tr. 
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at 92 (ER 943).  She found a series of small to medium-sized ponds constructed in a 

perennial stream on the Forest Service’s Mohawk property.  Id. at 86, 94-98 (ER 937, 

945-49); see Gov. Ex. 27b (infra p. 54) (photos).  On a subsequent visit, Fisher and 

EPA investigator Kelly Siler observed additional ponds.  Robertson admitted that he 

had dug the ponds and that he had no permit or written authorization for that activity.  

Id. at 101-03 (ER 952-54); Robertson Tr. at 814-16 (ER 1665-67). 

Both Fisher and Siler told Robertson to stop digging and contact the U.S. 

Army Corps of Engineers or the Montana Department of Environmental Quality 

about possible permit requirements.  Wenzel Tr. at 138 (ER 989); Siler Tr. at 534-35 

(ER 1385-86).  Robertson understood that advice but ignored it.  Within ten days, he 

had continued excavating.  See Wenzel Tr. at 139-40, 145 (ER 990-91, 996); Robertson 

Tr. at 801-03, 806 (Tr. 1652-54, 1657).  On each of his three site visits between 

November 2013 and October 2014, Siler noted additional excavation.  See Siler Tr. at 

532-39, 566-76 (ER 1383-90, 1417-27). 

Robertson ultimately constructed nine or ten unauthorized ponds, at least five 

of which were on Forest Service property.  See Fisher Tr. at 122 (ER 973).  In an 

October 2014 field investigation, EPA found that those ponds affected 400 linear feet 

of tributaries and 1.5 acres of wetlands.  See Clark Tr. at 502-03 (ER 1353-54).  To 

build all of these ponds, Robertson had used a treaded excavator to remove earth 
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from the surrounding wetlands and deposit it directly into the stream bed, blocking 

the flow of water.  See Fisher Tr. at 101-02 (ER 952-53); Wenzel Tr. at 138 (ER 989). 

Forest Service, Corps, and EPA personnel and wetlands experts studied the 

areas affected in a series of site visits.  Fisher visited the property 12-15 times during 

several seasons, and found flowing water each time.  Fisher Tr. at 131 (ER 982).  Siler 

walked the entire stream channel to its confluence with Cataract Creek, documented it 

in photos and videos, and correlated those to GPS location data.  See Siler Tr. at 316-

37 (ER 1167-88).  Todd Tillinger, a Corps wetlands expert, walked the entire stream 

and found that it was a continuously flowing tributary of Cataract Creek, that it had a 

confined channel and bank, and that it had an identifiable ordinary high water mark 

disturbed by the pond construction.  Tillinger Tr. at 440 (ER 1291); Jurisdictional 

Determination (ER 2239, 2242).  EPA investigator Richard Clark, an expert in 

wetlands identification, explored the area around the ponds and found indicators of 

wetlands including hydric soils and wetlands vegetation.  See, e.g., Clark Tr. at 495-96 

(ER 1346-47).  He also observed “a lot of sediment that had gotten into the creek 

itself.”  Id. at 501 (ER 1352).  Scott Gillilan, an expert in wetlands restoration, 

concluded that both the tributary and adjacent wetlands had been of “pristine and 

high quality, good condition,” and that it would take “decades, if not hundreds or 

thousands of years” for such wetlands to develop naturally.  Gillilan Tr. at 518, 527 

(ER 1369, 1378). 
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II. IDENTIFYING “WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES” 

It is undisputed here that Robertson blocked stream beds and filled wetlands 

by depositing dredged or fill material, and that he did so without a permit under the 

Clean Water Act.  The principal issue is whether the stream beds and wetlands are 

“waters of the United States” that are covered by the Act. 

A. The Clean Water Act framework 

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act “to restore and maintain the chemical, 

physical, and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  The 

Act prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant by any person,” except in compliance 

with certain specific provisions of the Act.  Id. § 1311(a).  One of those provisions 

authorizes the Secretary of the Army, acting through the Corps, to issue a permit “for 

the discharge of dredged or fill material into the navigable waters at specified disposal 

sites.”  Id. § 1344(a).  The Act establishes criminal penalties for any person who 

“knowingly violates” the prohibition on discharging pollutants without a permit.  33 

U.S.C. § 1319(c)(2)(A). 

The “discharge of a pollutant” under the Act means “any addition of any 

pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(12) (emphasis 

added).  “Navigable waters,” in turn, are defined as “the waters of the United States, 

including the territorial seas.”  Id. § 1362(7).  The meaning of that phrase is at the 

heart of this appeal.  EPA and the Corps (together, the “Agencies”) have defined 
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“waters of the United States” by regulation.  Under the regulations that were in place 

at the time of Robertson’s conviction,2 that phrase included (among other waters) all 

traditional navigable waters, “[t]ributaries” of any of those waters, and “wetlands 

adjacent” to such waters.  See 33 C.F.R. § 328.3 (2014). 

B. The Supreme Court’s Rapanos decision 

The application of the Agencies’ definition of “waters of the United States” has 

been limited in some cases by judicial interpretations of the Act.  Notably, the 

Supreme Court has considered the meaning of “waters of the United States” several 

times.  The Court has never facially invalidated any part of the agencies’ definition 

that is relevant here, and each time has reaffirmed that the Clean Water Act reaches 

some waters that are not navigable in the traditional sense.  See United States v. Riverside 

Bayview Homes, Inc., 474 U.S. 121, 134-35 (1985); Solid Waste Agency of N. Cook Cty. v. 

U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 531 U.S. 159, 171 (2001) (“SWANCC”).   

Most recently, in Rapanos, the Court considered the Act’s application to certain 

wetlands “which lie near ditches or man-made drains that eventually empty into 

                                           

2  On June 29, 2015, the Agencies promulgated the “Clean Water Rule,” 
establishing a revised definition of “waters of the United States.” See “Clean Water 
Rule:  Definition of ‘Waters of the United States,’” 80 Fed. Reg. 37,054 (June 29, 
2015).  The Sixth Circuit stayed implementation of the Rule pending judicial review, 
and Robertson’s trial was governed by the pre-Clean Water Rule regulations. 
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traditional navigable waters.”  547 U.S. at 729 (plurality opinion).  Five Justices agreed 

that the Act did not necessarily reach those wetlands, although they disagreed on the 

reason.  Writing for four Justices in the plurality, Justice Scalia focused on the 

meaning of the term “waters.”  He would have held that this term would confer 

jurisdiction over “relatively permanent, standing or flowing bodies of water,” 

including “seasonal” waters, and over wetlands with a “continuous surface 

connection” to permanent waters.  Id. at 732 & n.5, 742.  In contrast, the Act would 

not cover “[w]etlands with only an intermittent, physically remote hydrologic 

connection to ‘waters of the United States.’”  Id. at 742. 

Justice Kennedy, concurring in the judgment but writing only for himself, 

offered a completely different test to determine whether particular waters are “waters 

of the United States.”  In his view, “the Corps’ jurisdiction over wetlands depends 

upon the existence of a significant nexus between the wetlands in question and 

navigable waters in the traditional sense.”  Id. at 779 (Kennedy, J., concurring).  He 

would have held that a “significant nexus” is present when wetlands, “either alone or 

in combination with similarly situated lands in the region, significantly affect the 

chemical, physical, and biological integrity of other covered waters more readily 

understood as ‘navigable.’”  Id. at 780. 

Justice Stevens, writing for four Justices in dissent, rejected the limitations that 

both the plurality and Justice Kennedy would impose.  The dissenters would have 
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upheld the Corps’ definition of “waters of the United States” as “a quintessential 

example of the Executive’s reasonable interpretation of a statutory provision.”  Id. at 

788 (Stevens, J., dissenting).  Justice Stevens explicitly stated that “all four Justices 

who have joined this opinion would uphold the Corps’ jurisdiction in both of these 

cases – and in all other cases in which either the plurality’s or Justice Kennedy’s test is 

satisfied.”  Id. at 810.  He therefore proposed that the relevant question for the lower 

courts is whether either of those tests were met, because at least five Justices – the four 

dissenters, plus at least one of the Justices concurring in the Rapanos judgment – 

would find such waters to be covered by the Act.  Id. at 810 & n.14. 

C. Marks and the application of Rapanos in the courts of appeals 

The lower courts, given the task of applying Rapanos, have sought guidance in 

Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188 (1977).  In Marks, the Supreme Court considered 

the precedential value of an earlier case in which there was no majority opinion.  The 

Court held that the three-justice plurality in that case had provided the controlling 

rule:  “When a fragmented Court decides a case and no single rationale explaining the 

result enjoys the assent of five Justices, ‘the holding of the Court may be viewed as 

that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the 

narrowest grounds.’”  Id. (citing Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 169 n.15 (1976)).  Marks 

has since been applied many times, often taking dissenting opinions into account to 

determine the holding of the court.  See infra pp. 33-34. 
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Every court of appeals to consider Rapanos under the Marks framework has 

concluded that the government may demonstrate Clean Water Act jurisdiction using 

Justice Kennedy’s “significant nexus” standard.  The first court to address this 

question was the Seventh Circuit.  United States v. Gerke Excavating, Inc., 464 F.3d 723 

(7th Cir. 2006).  That court held that, “as a practical matter,” Justice Kennedy’s 

standard is the “least common denominator” among the Rapanos opinions because the 

result reached under that standard would have the support of five Justices (Justice 

Kennedy plus either the Rapanos plurality or the dissenters) in all but “a rare case.”  Id. 

at 725. 

This Court, citing Gerke, has considered Justice Kennedy’s standard to be “the 

controlling rule of law” that Rapanos provides.  Healdsburg, 496 F.3d at 1000.  The 

Healdsburg Court held that Justice Kennedy’s concurrence “is the narrowest ground to 

which a majority of the Justices would assent if forced to choose in almost all cases.”  

Id. at 999.  This Court has since repeatedly reaffirmed that Justice Kennedy’s standard 

is “controlling,” San Francisco Baykeeper v. Cargill Salt Div., 481 F.3d 700, 707 (9th Cir. 

2007); United States v. Moses, 496 F.3d 984, 990 (9th Cir. 2007), although it has also 

noted that there is still an open question whether jurisdiction may also be established 

using the Rapanos plurality’s standard.  N. Cal. River Watch v. Wilcox, 633 F.3d 766, 769 

(9th Cir. 2011).  Only the Eleventh Circuit has held that Justice Kennedy’s standard 
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alone is the controlling rule of law.  See United States v. Robison, 505 F.3d 1208, 1222 

(11th Cir. 2007). 

Other courts of appeals, following the First Circuit in United States v. Johnson, 

467 F.3d 56 (1st Cir. 2006), have concluded that the government can demonstrate 

Clean Water Act jurisdiction using either test.  The First Circuit held that the 

“narrowest ground” concept as used in Marks “does not translate easily to the present 

situation,” because “the cases in which Justice Kennedy would limit federal 

jurisdiction are not a subset of the cases in which the plurality would limit 

jurisdiction.”  Id. at 64.  As a result, Justice Kennedy’s test, if taken alone, might 

preclude Clean Water Act jurisdiction even though the eight other Justices would all 

consider the Act to apply.  Id.  The First Circuit therefore endorsed Justice Stevens’ 

analysis, allowing the government to establish jurisdiction using “either the plurality’s 

or Justice Kennedy’s standard as laid out in Rapanos.”  Id. at 66; see id. at 64-66.  The 

Third and Eighth Circuits reached the same conclusion.  United States v. Donovan, 661 

F.3d 174, 184 (3d Cir. 2011); United States v. Bailey, 571 F.3d 791, 799 (8th Cir. 2009). 

III. DISTRICT COURT PROCEEDINGS 

A. Robertson’s conviction at trial 

Robertson was indicted in May 2015 on three counts.  Count I and III alleged 

that Robertson had deposited dredged or fill material into waters of the United States 

without a permit, in violation of 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  Count II alleged that 
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Robertson’s activities on the Forest Service’s Mohawk parcel had willfully injured 

property of the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1361.  See Indictment (ER 

3498-504).  The government’s case focused largely on establishing that Robertson’s 

excavation and construction activities took place in “waters of the United States” 

using Justice Kennedy’s “significant nexus” standard and caused significant damage to 

National Forest System lands. 

Robertson’s first trial in October 2015 ended in a hung jury.  Despite the 

mistrial, Robertson sought a directed acquittal on the grounds that the government, 

although it was required to prove Clean Water Act jurisdiction on the basis of Justice 

Kennedy’s standard, had failed to promulgate any rules by which that standard could 

be met.  See ER 1975.  The district court rejected these arguments, holdings that its 

jury instructions, based on Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos standard, provided the jury 

“with a coherent standard to apply.”  See Order At 8 (ER 72).  It also held that the 

government had presented sufficient evidence for a rational jury to find “that the 

tributary and its adjacent wetlands have a hydrological connection with traditionally 

navigable waters” that was “chemically, physically, or biologically significant,” and to 

convict Robertson under that standard.  Id. at 9-10 (ER 73-74).  Robertson has 

appealed that ruling here.   

At Robertson’s second trial, the government again presented evidence to 

support a significant nexus, based in part on a continuously flowing surface 
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connection, between the waters at issue here and Cataract Creek.  Tillinger Tr. at 417-

18, 440-41 (ER 1268-69, 1291-92).  The evidence also showed how Robertson’s 

activities would affect the physical, chemical, or biological integrity of downstream 

navigable waters.  Ron Spoon testified that water quality is important to maintaining 

fisheries habitat, such as the Jefferson and Boulder rivers, because Montana does not 

stock its rivers and streams.  See Spoon Tr. at 232, 234 (ER 1083, 1085).  Tributary 

quality is essential because an adequate flow of “clean, cold water” is necessary for 

fish to spawn.  Id. at 235-38 (ER 1086-89).  Man-made dams or impoundments reduce 

that flow, increase sedimentation, and allow the temperature of the impounded water 

to rise – all with negative effects on downstream habitat.  Id. at 245-46, 249-51 (ER 

1096-97, 1100-02).  Degradation elsewhere in the watershed makes it even more 

important for these streams to provide “cool, clean water.”  Id. at 273 (ER 1124).  

Todd Tillinger also testified that introducing pollutants into wetlands can affect the 

acidity of the water, the nutrient load for organisms, and the rate at which water is 

released into streams.  Tillinger Tr. at 418-19, 431, 435-39 (ER 1269-70, 1282, 1286-

90).  Richard Clark confirmed all of these effects for the jury, describing how wetlands 

provide breeding and feeding habitat for birds and animals, thus supporting the entire 

food chain.  Clark Tr. at 498-501 (ER 1349-52). 

The government’s evidence established the “significant nexus” that Justice 

Kennedy’s Rapanos standard requires for Clean Water Act jurisdiction.  Spoon testified 
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that even tributaries “way high up in Basin” are important to the Jefferson River 

because “cumulatively . . . when you add them all up, that’s what makes the 

watershed.”  Spoon Tr. at 257 (ER 1108); see id. at 273-74 (ER 1124-25).  Clark, who 

had conducted hundreds of wetlands evaluations during his career, testified that the 

connection between the wetlands at issue and the Jefferson River “would be a 

significant nexus, pretty clearly,” and explained the basis for his conclusion.  Clark. Tr. 

at 498 (ER 1349).  Tillinger testified at length about how the Corps identifies a 

significant nexus and why he approved the Corps’ own finding of jurisdiction over the 

waters here.  See, e.g., Tillinger Tr. at 435-440 (ER 1286-91); see also Jurisdictional 

Determination at 8-10 (ER 2246-48).  As he put it, “you take care of the pieces, and 

the health and integrity of the entire watershed is maintained.”  Id. at 476 (ER 1327). 

On April 7, 2016, the jury convicted Robertson on two counts of illegally 

discharging dredged or fill material into waters of the United States without a permit, 

and on one count of willfully damaging National Forest System lands.  See ER 165-66.  

Robertson filed post-trial motions for acquittal on some of the same grounds he raises 

here.  The district court again denied those motions, finding that the government’s 

evidence was sufficient to support the jury’s findings that Robertson had willfully 

injured property of the United States and that he had discharged pollutants into 

waters of the United States.  See Order (ER 169-77).   
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The district court sentenced Robertson to incarceration for 18 months on each 

count of the indictment, to run concurrently, and ordered him to pay restitution to 

the United States of $129,933.50.  Id. at 101, 106 (ER 278, 283).  It noted that for 

“nearly ten years, Joseph Robertson has been issued multiple citations” concerning 

unauthorized activities on National Forest Service land.  Id. at 81 (ER 258).  

Robertson had “utterly ignored his legal obligations” arising from his misdemeanor 

conviction for those activities.  Id. at 84 (ER 261).  Once he started constructing 

ponds, “the defendant was told and instructed to cease work until proper permits 

were either requested and approved or he was told that a permit was not required.”  

Id. at 88 (ER 265).  Even after his first trial, Robertson had indicated that he intended 

to return to his property and continue construction on his dams, and that if necessary, 

he would gather friends and weapons to defend himself against law enforcement 

officers.  Id. at 91-92, 99 (ER 268-69, 276).  Robertson’s history, the court found, had 

“repeatedly demonstrated that he has no respect for the law.”  Id. at 98 (ER 275). 

B. The district court’s consideration of Davis 

Shortly before Robertson was sentenced this Court issued its en banc decision 

in United States v. Davis, addressing the proper application of Marks.  In Davis, a 

defendant that had been convicted and sentenced pursuant to a plea agreement 

sought a retroactive sentence reduction under 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2).  See 825 F.3d at 

1016.  The Supreme Court had considered that very situation in Freeman v. United 
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States, 564 U.S. 522 (2011), and had held that defendants sentenced pursuant to a plea 

agreement were eligible for the sentence reduction.  However, in Freeman, the various 

Justices “agree[d] on very little except the judgment.”  Davis, 825 F.3d at 1016, 1020.  

The en banc panel held that “a fractured Supreme Court decision should only bind 

the federal courts of appeal when a majority of the Justices agree upon a single 

underlying rationale and one opinion can reasonably be described as a logical subset 

of the other.”  Id. at 1021-22.  Otherwise, “only the specific result is binding on lower 

federal courts,” id. at 1022, and they should “consider which of the rationales set forth 

in the varying opinions is most persuasive.”  Id. at 1026 (relying on United States v. 

Epps, 707 F.3d 337, 351 (D.C. Cir. 2013)). 

Although Davis was not related to the Clean Water Act, Robertson argued in 

post-trial proceedings that Davis overruled Healdsburg and precludes the use of Justice 

Kennedy’s standard as the standard for identifying “waters of the United States.”  The 

district court speculated that, if this Court reconsidered Rapanos in light of Davis, it 

would likely conclude that “there’s no controlling opinion” because neither Justice 

Kennedy’s reasoning nor Justice Scalia’s could be characterized as a subset of the 

other.  See Sentencing Tr. at 24-25 (ER 201-02).  Moreover, the district court 

reasoned, that conclusion would be “irreconcilable” with Healdsburg, which had 

approved the use of Justice Kennedy’s standard.  However, the court denied 

Robertson’s motion.  Id. at 27 (ER 204).  It noted that where Justice Kennedy’s 
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standard concluded that waters were “waters of the United States,” the Rapanos 

dissenters would almost certainly agree, and that suggested that this Court might 

“view that as the more persuasive rule.”  Id. at 26 (ER 203). 

Robertson’s case is the first in this Court to present the question of whether 

the government may continue to establish jurisdiction over “waters of the United 

States” using Justice Kennedy’s concurring opinion in Rapanos, as this Court has held 

since Healdsburg, or whether Davis implicitly overruled Healdsburg, leaving this Court to 

reconsider how Rapanos applies in this Circuit. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The government proved that Robertson knowingly discharged pollutants into 

“waters of the United States” by showing that the stream and wetlands he disturbed 

have a “significant nexus,” including a continuous surface connection, with traditional 

navigable waters.  The principal issue in this appeal is whether this standard was 

proper under the Clean Water Act.  There are several possible ways for the Court to 

resolve that issue.   

First, the Court should hold that Healdsburg is not overruled because it is not 

“clearly irreconcilable” with Davis.  See Miller v. Gammie, 335 F.3d 889, 900 (9th Cir. 

2003) (en banc).  Healdsburg adopted Justice Kennedy’s standard because wherever 

Justice Kennedy would uphold Clean Water Act jurisdiction, the four dissenters 
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would join him to make a majority.  Davis allows the use of dissents in a Marks 

analysis, so Healdsburg is still good law.  See Section I below (pp. 23-30).   

Second, even if Healdsburg were not good law, the reasoning-based analysis of 

Davis leads to the conclusion that Rapanos provides a controlling rule:  The 

government may demonstrate jurisdiction under either the plurality standard or Justice 

Kennedy’s standard.  Both the plurality and Justice Kennedy reasoned that the 

Agencies’ definition of “waters of the United States” is valid except in certain cases, 

and those opinions are each a logical subset of the dissenters’ view that the Agencies’ 

definition is valid generally.  The reasoning of these opinions reveals a controlling rule 

that would gain the support of five Justices in every case.  See Section II-A below (pp. 

30-35).   

Third, even if Davis did not allow the Court to find a binding rule in Rapanos, 

allowing the government to establish jurisdiction using either test is at least the most 

persuasive reading of Rapanos.  That result is consistent with the Rapanos opinions, the 

protective purposes of the Clean Water Act, the Agencies’ practice and interpretation, 

and this Court’s case law.  See Section II-B below (pp. 35-38). 

All of these potential ways to analyze Rapanos under Davis point to the same 

result:  Justice Kennedy’s standard is sufficient to establish Clean Water Act 

jurisdiction, and has been for the entire time relevant to this case.  Even if the Court 

disagrees, however, it may still affirm Robertson’s conviction on the grounds that the 
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government’s evidence proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Robertson violated the 

Clean Water Act even under the Rapanos plurality’s standard, and any error was 

therefore harmless.  See Section III-C below (pp. 38-39).   

Given an appropriate understanding of the Rapanos standards, the district 

court’s other rulings were correct.  Robertson had fair warning that his conduct was 

illegal before he committed the violations at issue.  See infra pp. 40-42.  The district 

court also properly allowed the testimony of Todd Tillinger, who testified about how 

the Corps has applied the Agencies’ existing regulations and guidance to make 

jurisdictional determinations in general and in this case.  The court appropriately 

separated that testimony from its own instructions to the jury on the legal 

requirements of the Clean Water Act.  See infra pp. 42-47. 

Robertson argues, after conviction at his second trial, that the district court 

should have granted his motion for acquittal after his first trial.  Four other courts of 

appeals have held that such an argument is precluded.  See infra pp. 48-50.  Even if this 

Court were to entertain that argument here, the government’s evidence at Robertson’s 

first trial was sufficient to establish jurisdiction under Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos 

standard.  It also produced sufficient evidence, including the personal knowledge of 

Forest Service investigators, to establish that Robertson’s violations took place on 

Forest Service property.  See infra pp. 51-55. 

  Case: 16-30178, 01/18/2017, ID: 10269518, DktEntry: 32, Page 31 of 71



22 

 

The Court should affirm the district court’s award of restitution to the Forest 

Service because his convictions under Counts I and III should be upheld.  But even if 

the Court vacated Robertson’s Clean Water Act convictions, his conviction on Count 

II for destruction of Forest Service property would still support the entire restitution 

award.  See infra pp. 55-57. 

Finally, the Court should affirm the district court’s order requiring Robertson 

to pay part of the cost of his defense.  The statute that provides for court-appointed 

counsel requires reimbursement from a defendant with the ability to pay, and it does 

not vary that requirement where a defendant’s first trial ends in a hung jury.  See infra 

pp. 57-59. 

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

Robertson’s arguments concerning the continuing viability of Healdsburg and 

the correct interpretation of Rapanos relate to the jurisdictional extent of the Clean 

Water Act.  Such questions of statutory construction are reviewed de novo.  See, e.g., 

United States v. Lewis, 67 F.3d 225, 228 (9th Cir. 1995). 

This Court reviews the district court’s evidentiary rulings, including its decision 

to allow Todd Tillinger’s testimony and to exclude certain evidence proffered by 

Robertson, for abuse of discretion.  See, e.g., United States v. Anderson, 741 F.3d 938, 949 

(9th Cir. 2013). 
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The district court’s decision to deny Robertson’s motion to acquit after his first 

trial, if that decision is appealable here, would be reviewed de novo.  United States v. 

Sarkisian, 197 F.3d 966, 984 (9th Cir. 1999). 

The legal basis for the district court’s restitution order is reviewed de novo.  If 

restitution is available, this Court reviews the district court’s findings of fact for clear 

error and its restitution decision for abuse of discretion.  See United States v. Batson, 608 

F.3d 630, 632-33 (9th Cir. 2010). 

The district court’s ruling that Robertson had the ability to pay counsel, and 

therefore was required to reimburse the court for the cost of his appointed counsel, is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion.  See United States v. Danielson, 325 F.3d 1054, 1076 

(9th Cir. 2003). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THIS COURT’S STANDARD FOR “WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES,” 

ESTABLISHED IN HEALDSBURG, IS STILL CONTROLLING LAW. 

The government’s proof at trial was based on Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos 

standard, and the district court instructed the jury to apply that standard in deciding 

whether Robertson’s activities took place in “waters of the United States.”  

Robertson’s principal argument is that Healdsburg, the case that established Justice 

Kennedy’s standard for use in this Circuit, has been overruled by Davis.  See Def. Br. 

at 16-20.  This is incorrect, and Healdsburg is still good law. 
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Ordinarily, this Court is bound by a prior decision of other three-judge panels 

unless it is “explicitly or implicitly” overruled by the Supreme Court or the Ninth 

Circuit sitting en banc.  See, e.g., Hard v. Burlington N. R. Co., 870 F.2d 1454, 1458 (9th 

Cir. 1989).  There is an exception to the rule of stare decisis “in the face of an 

intervening United States Supreme Court decision, or an intervening decision on 

controlling state law by a state court of last resort.”  Miller, 335 F.3d at 892.  But this 

Court places a high value on “the consistency of circuit law,” and does not lightly 

depart from its own precedent.  Id. at 900.  It will therefore follow a prior precedent 

unless it is “clearly irreconcilable” with a more recent, controlling decision by a higher 

court, Miller, 335 F.3d at 900, in a case that is “closely on point.”  Galbraith v. Cty. of 

Santa Clara, 307 F.3d 1119, 1123 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing United States v. Lancellotti, 761 

F.2d 1363, 1366 (9th Cir. 1985)).  “It is not enough for there to be ‘some tension’ 

between the intervening higher authority and prior circuit precedent, or for the 

intervening higher authority to ‘cast doubt’ on prior circuit precedent.”  Lair v. Bullock, 

697 F.3d 1200, 1207 (9th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted).  If the prior 

holding “can be reasonably harmonized with the intervening authority,” then this 

Court must continue to apply it.  Id. at 1206; cf. Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S. 203, 237 

(1997) (cautioning courts against concluding that prior cases have been overruled by 

implication).   
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This is a “high standard.”  Lair, 697 F.3d at 1207.  It is not met here.  Healdsburg 

has not been overruled because it is not “clearly irreconcilable” with Davis. 

The government agrees with Robertson that Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos 

standard and the plurality standard do not “share common reasoning whereby one 

analysis is a logical subset of the other.”  Davis, 825 F.3d at 1022 (quoting Epps, 707 

F.3d at 350).  The Court in Davis described the “logical subset” question in terms of 

“a diagram in which a circle representing the reasoning of [one] opinion sits neatly 

within a circle representing the reasoning of [another] opinion.”  825 F.3d at 1023; see 

id. at 1021.3  As Davis explained, the plurality opinion in Freeman and Justice 

Sotomayor’s opinion each “would allow sentence reductions in situations where the 

other would not,” id. at 1023, and therefore did not share a “common denominator.”  

Id. at 1022.  Similarly, there was no common reasoning between those two opinions 

and the Davis dissent, which would not allow sentence reductions at all.  Id. at 1025.  

The three Freeman opinions, as this Court described them in Davis, are diagrammed 

below as Fig. 1. 

                                           

3  Judge Williams of the D.C. Circuit, explaining how that court has conducted 
the “logical subset” analysis in Epps and in King v. Palmer, 950 F.2d 771 (D.C. Cir. 
1991), has included such diagrams in an opinion.  See United States v. Duvall, 740 F.3d 
604, 619-20 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (Williams, J., concurring in the denial of rehearing en 
banc).  This brief follows that example, although as Judge Williams noted, the relative 
size of the circles does not necessarily indicate the breadth of a rule.  Id. 
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A diagram of Rapanos that included only the plurality’s and Justice Kennedy’s 

opinions would be similar to the diagram of the two opinions concurring in the 

judgment in Freeman, as this Court described them Davis.  There would be a very small 

set of hypothetical cases – relatively permanent waters that lack any significant nexus 

to navigable waters – where the plurality would find Clean Water Act jurisdiction but 

Justice Kennedy would not.  See Fig. 2.  In Robison, the Eleventh Circuit explicitly held 

that the dissenting Justices’ views were irrelevant, and it therefore considered a 

diagram with only those two opinions.  505 F.3d at 1221.  Faced with this situation, 

the Eleventh Circuit adopted Justice Kennedy’s opinion as the “narrower” or “less far 

reaching” – that is, the opinion that would invalidate the Agencies’ definition of 

“waters of the United States” in the narrowest set of cases.  Id.  That is the kind of 

analysis that Davis rejects. 

Plurality:
Sentence 
reduction 
available in 
some cases 

Sotomayor:
Sentence 
reduction 
available in 
some cases 

Dissent:  
Sentence 
reduction 
not available 

Fig. 1.   Diagram of the Freeman 
opinions considered in 
Davis.  The Freeman 
plurality’s reasoning (blue) 
and Justice Sotomayor’s 
reasoning (red) do not 
completely overlap.  The 
dissent (green) is based on 
a third rationale that would 
reach a different result in 
all cases. 
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This Court has taken a different approach – one that is consistent with Davis.  

In Healdsburg, it adopted Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos standard not solely because it was 

the less far-reaching of the two opinions that concurred in the result, but because it 

provided the narrowest ground “to which a majority of the Justices would assent if 

forced to choose in almost all cases.”  Healdsburg, 496 F.3d at 999.  This is an analysis, 

as Davis requires, of the various Justices’ reasoning.  A diagram of Rapanos, as 

considered by the Healdsburg panel, would contain all three of the principal opinions – 

the plurality opinion, Justice Kennedy’s concurrence, and Justice Stevens’ dissent.  

The plurality’s reasoning and Justice Kennedy’s may not fully overlap with each other, 

but both are completely contained within Justice Stevens’ reasoning.  See Fig. 3.  Both 

the plurality’s standard and Justice Kennedy’s are a “logical subset” of the Rapanos 

dissent, see Davis, 825 F.3d at 1022, because in every case in which those standards 

would find the Agencies’ definition of “waters of the United States” to be valid, the 

dissenting Justices “must necessarily agree as a logical consequence of [their] own, 

Plurality:
Agency 
definition 
valid in 
some cases 
 

Kennedy:
Agency 
definition 
valid in 
some cases 

Fig. 2.    Diagram of the two 
Rapanos opinions 
concurring in the 
judgment, as considered by 
the Eleventh Circuit in 
Robison.  The plurality’s 
proposed rule (blue) and 
Justice Kennedy’s 
proposed rule (red) overlap 
in many cases, but not 
completely:  Neither is a 
logical subset of the other.   
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broader position.”  Epps, 707 F.3d at 348.  Justice Stevens’ dissent made this explicit.  

Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 810 & n.14.  

The Healdsburg panel adopted Justice Kennedy’s rule not simply because it was 

the narrowest, but because it would produce “a majority of the Justices . . . in almost 

all cases.”  496 F.3d at 999.  This reading of Healdsburg is confirmed by this Court’s 

later decision in Wilcox.  Although Wilcox described Justice Kennedy’s standard as 

“controlling,” it also noted that Healdsburg did not “foreclose the argument that Clean 

Water Act jurisdiction may also be established under the plurality’s standard.”  Wilcox, 

633 F.3d at 769 (citing Healdsburg, 496 F.3d at 999-1000).  This Court, therefore, reads 

Healdsburg as adopting a rule that would find the support of a Supreme Court majority, 

taking all three opinions into account, while recognizing that the same analysis could 

support jurisdiction under a different rule. 

Fig. 3.    Diagram of all three 
Rapanos opinions, as 
considered by this Court in 
Healdsburg.  When the 
dissenters’ rationale is 
added to the diagram 
(green), it overlaps 
completely with the 
plurality and Justice 
Kennedy’s rationales:   
They are a logical subset of 
the dissenters’ reasoning.  

Kennedy:
Agency 
definition 
valid in 
some cases 

Plurality:
Agency 
definition 
valid in 
some cases 
 

Dissents:  
Agency 
definition 
valid 
generally 
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Put in terms of the diagrams above, the rule that Davis articulated based on the 

alignment of the opinions in Freeman (Fig. 1) does not undermine the analysis in 

Healdsburg of a fundamentally different alignment of opinions in Rapanos (Fig. 3).  

Davis assumed that, in some situations (not presented there), the reasoning of a 

dissenting opinion might be relevant to a Marks analysis.  See 825 F.3d at 1024-25.  

Healdsburg presents that situation, because once the reasoning of the Rapanos dissenters 

was taken into account, the Court was able to discern a rule that a majority of Justices 

would support.  Healdsburg is therefore reconcilable with Davis and has not been 

implicitly overruled.  If a future decision were to extend Davis to establish that 

dissents may not be used to identify the controlling rule, then it might have to 

reconsider Healdsburg, because the plurality opinion and Justice Kennedy’s 

concurrence do not completely overlap (Fig. 2).  But Davis itself did not go so far. 

Robertson contends that this analysis misreads Healdsburg.  Based on a 

difference between the panel’s initial opinion and its final, amended opinion, 

Robertson argues that Healdsburg simply adopted the Seventh Circuit’s reasoning in 

Gerke, which (Robertson claims) is inconsistent with Davis.  See Def. Br. at 16-20.  

That is incorrect.  The opinion in Gerke does recognize that in the “rare case,” Justice 

Kennedy’s standard might lead to a different result than the plurality’s standard.  

Gerke, 464 F.3d at 725; see Def. Br. at 17-18.  But the Gerke court held that Justice 

Kennedy’s standard is sufficient for jurisdiction based primarily on the reasoning of 
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the Rapanos opinions – most critically, that a decision in favor of jurisdiction “will 

command the support of five Justices (himself plus the four dissenters).”  464 F.3d at 

725.   

If Healdsburg, like Robison, had concluded that only Justice Kennedy’s test could 

be relevant, then it would arguably be inconsistent with Davis.  But Wilcox shows that 

Healdsburg is not so narrow.  Instead, this Court may allow proof under either the 

plurality’s standard or Justice Kennedy’s, based on the common reasoning between 

either of those opinions and the Rapanos dissenters.  The district court’s jury 

instruction here was therefore correct. 

II. RAPANOS ALLOWS THE GOVERNMENT TO ESTABLISH JURISDICTION USING 

JUSTICE KENNEDY’S STANDARD. 

Even if the Court were to find that Davis implicitly overruled Healdsburg, that 

would not require reversal.  Instead, the Court would have to return to the Rapanos 

opinions, taking Davis into account, and discern whether those opinions provide a 

controlling rule of law.  That analysis would require the Court to affirm, because the 

rationales of the Rapanos opinions allow the government to establish Clean Water Act 

jurisdiction using Justice Kennedy’s standard. 

A. The controlling rule of Rapanos is that the government may prove 
jurisdiction under either standard.   

Robertson’s argument is based on his contention that “no single rationale 

commanded a majority of the Rapanos court.”  Def. Br. at 24.  This is not correct.  No 
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single rationale commanded a majority of the Justices that concurred in the result in 

Rapanos.  But as Robertson emphasizes, according to Davis, the interpretation of 

fractured decisions depends on the reasoning the Justices employed instead of the 

result they reached.  Under that principle, both the plurality opinion and Justice 

Kennedy’s opinion may be used to identify a controlling rule from Rapanos that 

applies to Robertson’s case, because each of those opinions shares some reasoning in 

common with Justice Stevens’ dissenting opinion. 

There are two different rationales in favor of Clean Water Act jurisdiction on 

which a majority of the Rapanos Justices would agree.  The four dissenters reasoned 

that the Agencies’ regulatory definition of the statutory phrase “waters of the United 

States” is generally valid; Justice Kennedy reasoned that it is valid except in a certain 

class of cases (those in which there is no significant nexus), and the plurality reasoned 

that it is valid except in a slightly different class of cases (those in which there are no 

relatively permanent waters or wetlands with a continuous surface connection).  See 

supra pp. 9-11 & Fig. 3.  Where Justice Kennedy or the plurality would find 

jurisdiction, the dissenters would also find jurisdiction “as a logical consequence of 

[their] own broader position.”  Epps, 707 F.3d 337, 348 (quoted in Def. Br. at 18).   

This means that where the facts of a particular case fall outside the limits of 

Clean Water Act jurisdiction under both Justice Kennedy’s and the plurality’s 

reasoning, the Supreme Court would reach a result without agreeing on a rationale.  A 
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majority of justices would find, for different reasons, that deference to the Agencies’ 

definition of “waters of the United States” is unwarranted.  In contrast, where the 

facts satisfy either Justice Kennedy’s or the plurality’s standard, then a majority of the 

Court will reach a result (finding jurisdiction) and will agree on a rationale (that 

nothing in the Act precludes application of the Agencies’ definition in that case).  See 

Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 810 (Stevens, J., dissenting). 

It is fully consistent with Davis for the Court to use the Rapanos dissents this 

way.  Davis “assume[d] but [did] not decide” whether a dissent could be considered in 

a Marks analysis, 825 F.3d at 1025, because it was irrelevant in that case.  The Court 

found that none of the three Freeman opinions was a “logical subset” of another, and 

therefore “we cannot derive any common denominator by combining Freeman’s 

dissenting opinion with either the plurality or the concurring opinion.”  Id. at 1025-26.  

In contrast, both the plurality opinion in Rapanos and Justice Kennedy’s opinion are a 

logical subset of Justice Stevens’ dissent.  See supra p. 28 (Fig. 3).  The “common 

denominator” that emerges is that, according to a majority of the Court, waters are 

“waters of the United States” if they meet either test. 

Robertson’s brief largely ignores Justice Stevens’ Rapanos dissent and argues 

that there is no commonality between the plurality opinion and Justice Kennedy’s 

opinion.  See, e.g., Def. Br. at 19, 22, 23.  He is likely to object that, even though Davis 

left this question open, the Court should not allow dissents to be used in a Marks 
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analysis because Marks refers to the position “taken by those Members who concurred in 

the judgment on the narrowest grounds.”  430 U.S. at 193 (emphasis added).  Based on 

that language, five members of the en banc panel in Davis wrote in a separate 

concurring opinion that dissents “do not inform our analysis of what binding rule, if 

any, emerges from a fractured decision.”  Davis, 825 F.3d at 1029 (Christen, J., 

concurring).  The D.C. Circuit and the Eleventh Circuit have also read Marks to 

preclude consideration of dissents.  Robison, 505 F.3d at 1221; King, 950 F.2d at 783. 

There is more substantial support, however, for the conclusion that dissents 

may be used in a Marks analysis.  Most importantly, the Supreme Court itself has 

moved beyond the narrow language of Marks, recognizing that “this test is more easily 

stated than applied.”  Grutter v. Bollinger, 539 U.S. 306, 325 (2003) (quoting Nichols v. 

United States, 511 U.S. 738, 745 (1994)).  In practice, the Supreme Court and individual 

Justices have derived rules from fractured decisions based, in part, on dissents.  See, 

e.g., Abdul-Kabir v. Quarterman, 550 U.S. 233, 251-54 (2007); Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 810 

(Stevens, J., dissenting); Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 280-81 (2001); Waters v. 

Churchill, 511 U.S. 661, 685-86 (1994) (Souter, J., concurring); Alexander v. Choate, 469 

U.S. 287, 293 & nn.8-9 (1985); United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 115-18 (1984).  

For purposes of future cases, the Justices’ disagreement over the result of a particular 

case on its facts “is less significant than the agreement on the standard to be applied.”  

Jacobsen, 466 U.S. at 117 n.12. 
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Other courts of appeals have similarly recognized dissents for purposes of the 

Marks analysis.  Three of those courts have explicitly applied this practice to the 

interpretation of Rapanos, holding that Justice Stevens’ dissent may be used to identify 

a controlling rule.  In Johnson, the First Circuit extensively reviewed the relevant case 

law and concluded that the use of dissents “is consistent with the direction that the 

[Supreme] Court as a whole has taken since Marks.”  Johnson, 467 F.3d at 66; see id. at 

64-66.  The Eighth Circuit found Johnson’s reasoning persuasive in Bailey, see 571 F.3d 

at 799, as did the Third Circuit in Donovan, see 661 F.3d at 182-84. 

This Court considers dissents when interpreting its own en banc opinions 

because, “combined with votes from the plurality or concurring opinions,” dissents 

may “establish a majority view on the relevant issue.”  Clabourne v. Ryan, 745 F.3d 362, 

375-76 (9th Cir. 2014) (quoting Donovan, 661 F.3d at 182) (overruled on other grounds 

in McKinney v. Ryan, 813 F.3d 798 (9th Cir. 2015)).  The Court in Davis also 

“acknowledge[d] that the Supreme Court and our sister circuits have considered 

dissenting opinions when interpreting fragmented Supreme Court decisions.”  825 

F.3d at 1024-25.  Although this issue was not squarely presented in Davis, the logic of 

that case demands that dissent be considered where they help establish a majority 

view.  If the Court simply adopted the narrowest opinion that concurs in the result of 

a case, then the controlling rule of that case might have the support (as in Rapanos) of 

only one Justice.  Davis decisively rejected that formalist approach.  See 825 F.3d at 
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1021; see also Miller, 335 F.3d at 900 (noting that lower courts are bound by the 

Supreme Court’s “mode of analysis”).   

Both the plurality’s reasoning and Justice Kennedy’s reasoning are a logical 

subset of the Rapanos dissenters’ view that the Agencies may broadly interpret the 

scope of the Act.  Waters proven to meet either standard would, in the opinion of at 

least five Justices, be considered “waters of the United States.”  That rule therefore 

controls Robertson’s case. 

B. In the alternative, the “most persuasive” reading of Rapanos is 
that it allows the government to prove jurisdiction under either 
test. 

Robertson’s theory is that because the plurality opinion in Rapanos does not 

share “a single underlying rationale” with Justice Kennedy’s opinion, Rapanos cannot 

“bind the federal courts of appeal.”  Davis, 825 F.3d at 1022; see Def. Br. at 14.  As 

noted above, part of the en banc panel in Davis concurred to state that dissents may 

not be used in a Marks analysis to determine “what binding rule, if any, emerges from a 

fractured decision.”  Davis, 825 F.3d at 1029 (Christen, J., concurring).  Even if 

Rapanos produces no binding rule, however, that would not mean that Robertson’s 

conviction was invalid.  See Def. Br. at 24.  Instead, in that situation, Davis provides 

that the Court should consider which of the Rapanos rationales is “most persuasive.”  

See 825 F.3d at 1026.  The Court may therefore conduct its own analysis, in light of 

the Rapanos opinions, to determine whether a particular standard of proof will 
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produce results consistent with the Act.  That analysis should lead the Court to 

conclude that either test is sufficient to identify “waters of the United States.”   

The Agencies themselves have interpreted the Act, in light of Rapanos, to allow 

proof of jurisdiction under either Rapanos standard.  See “Clean Water Act Jurisdiction 

Following the U.S. Supreme Court’s Decision in Rapanos v. United States & Carabell v. 

United States,” December 2, 2008, at 3 (the “2008 Guidance”).  The Agencies’ 2008 

Guidance is consistent with the opinions in Rapanos and Healdsburg.4  Although agency 

guidance is not binding, it is still a statement of the agency’s informed judgment on 

matters within its expertise, which gives it “power to persuade.”  Skidmore v. Swift, 323 

U.S. 134, 140 (1944); see, e.g., Wilderness Watch, Inc. v. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Serv., 629 F.3d 

1024, 1034-35 (9th Cir. 2010).  The Fourth Circuit has granted Skidmore deference 

both to the 2008 Guidance and to the Corps’ interpretation of Justice Kennedy’s 

Rapanos standard.  See Precon Dev. Corp. v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 633 F.3d 278, 289-

90 & n.10 (4th Cir. 2011).  If the Court finds that Rapanos does not provide a 

controlling rule, then it should defer to the Agencies’ established, reasonable 

interpretation of the Act. 

                                           

4  See https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-02/documents/ 
cwa_jurisdiction_following_rapanos120208.pdf.  The more recent Clean Water Rule, 
a notice-and-comment rulemaking that is entitled to deference, adopts the same 
position.  See supra n.2. 
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Allowing proof under either standard is also persuasive under the case law.  

Justice Stevens’ dissent explains why a standard for identifying “waters of the United 

States” is adequate if it would produce a majority of five Justices in favor of 

jurisdiction.  Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 810 (Stevens, J., dissenting).  If the Court were to 

adopt the plurality’s standard or Justice Kennedy’s standard as the only way to identify 

“waters of the United States,” there would be cases in which the Court must find the 

Clean Water Act does not apply, even though a majority of the Supreme Court would 

say that it does.  Based on this reasoning, many of the courts of appeals above have 

been persuaded that proof under either standard is consistent with both the result in 

Rapanos and the reasoning of the Justices, and this Court has not foreclosed that 

possibility.  See supra pp. 12-13, 34. 

Furthermore, finding either standard sufficient for jurisdiction would continue 

the prevailing practice in this circuit, among the Agencies, and (largely) across the 

country.  As discussed above, this Court in Healdsburg held that Justice Kennedy’s test 

was a sufficient basis for Clean Water Act jurisdiction, and in Wilcox noted that the 

plurality’s test may also be sufficient.  Justice Kennedy’s standard has thus been in 

place in this circuit for ten years, including the entire period of Robertson’s Clean 

Water Act violations here.  Every other court of appeals to consider the question has 

permitted the government to establish jurisdiction under at least that standard.  See 

supra pp. 12-13. 
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Robertson argues that the only possible “common denominator” between the 

Rapanos opinions is that the government may assert Clean Water Act jurisdiction at 

the intersection of the plurality’s standard and Justice’s Kennedy’s.  See Def. Br. at 23-

24.  He also suggests that the plurality standard is actually the “narrower” standard 

under Marks because it would apply the Act to the fewest waters.  See Def. Br. at 20-

21.  These arguments get Rapanos backward:  The Court in Rapanos was not deciding 

where the Clean Water Act applies, but where it does not apply – specifically, whether 

the Agencies’ existing regulations were consistent with the Clean Water Act in that 

particular case.  The “narrowest” opinion is Justice Kennedy’s, because it would find 

such an inconsistency in the narrowest set of cases.  See Robison, 505 F.3d at 1221.  No 

court has ever adopted the test that Robertson proposes, and it is not the most 

persuasive reading of Rapanos.   

C. Any error in the jury instruction was harmless because the 
government established a violation under both Rapanos standards.   

As the previous sections have argued, it is correct for this Court to recognize 

that Healdsburg is still viable, or alternatively, to find that the government may 

demonstrate Clean Water Act jurisdiction under either Rapanos standard.  Resolving 

Robertson’s appeal on that basis would also re-establish clarity in this Circuit’s Clean 

Water Act jurisprudence.  But if the Court disagrees with the argument above, it could 
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still affirm Robertson’s conviction without deciding which of the Rapanos opinions 

provides a sufficient standard for identifying “waters of the United States.”   

An error in describing an element of the offense may be fatal if the government 

failed to present evidence that would support conviction under a proper jury 

instruction, see United States v. DeJarnette, 741 F.3d 971, 983 (9th Cir. 2013), but is 

harmless where the government has presented evidence to establish the omitted 

element beyond a reasonable doubt.  See United States v. Anchrum, 590 F.3d 795, 802 

(9th Cir. 2009).  Here, the government’s evidence at each trial established that the 

tributary and wetlands here have a “hydrological connection” to Cataract Creek.  See 

Order at 3-5 (ER 171-73); see supra pp. 7, 14-15.  That evidence would satisfy the 

Rapanos plurality’s standard.  See Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 739, 742.  As a result, even if the 

district court should have instructed the jury on the plurality’s standard rather than 

Justice Kennedy’s standard, any such error would be harmless:  It would be “clear 

beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty” 

even if a different instruction had been given.  United States v. Gracidas-Ulibarry, 231 

F.3d 1188, 1197 (9th Cir. 2000) (en banc).  Other courts of appeals have affirmed 

Clean Water Act jurisdiction on the basis that the facts satisfy both of the Rapanos 

standards without choosing between them.  See, e.g., United States v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d 

200, 210-12 (6th Cir. 2009); United States v. Lucas, 516 F.3d 316, 325-27 & n.8 (5th Cir. 

2008). 

  Case: 16-30178, 01/18/2017, ID: 10269518, DktEntry: 32, Page 49 of 71



40 

 

III. ROBERTSON HAD ADEQUATE NOTICE THAT HIS CONDUCT WAS UNLAWFUL. 

Robertson argues that it makes no difference what the correct standard was for 

identifying “waters of the United States,” because his conviction must be vacated as 

long as the standard was unclear.  See Def. Br. at 19-23.  He admits that his conviction 

may be sustained as long as the statute “as construed” made it “reasonably clear at the 

relevant time that the defendant’s conduct was criminal.”  Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 267 

(1997) (emphasis added); see Def. Br. at 21.  But he argues that applying the Act to 

him here would be “unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had 

been expressed prior to the conduct in issue.”  Def. Br. at 25 (citing Bouie v. City of 

Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 354 (1964)); see also Lanier, 520 U.S. at 266.   

There is no merit to this argument.  Robertson’s activities occurred after 

Rapanos and Healdsburg were decided, after the Agencies issued their 2008 Guidance, 

and before this Court decided Davis.  Justice Kennedy’s standard has been sufficient 

to prove a Clean Water Act violation throughout that period.  See supra pp. 23-38. 

As a legal matter, Justice Kennedy’s standard was clearly established as 

sufficient to identify “waters of the United States” when Healdsburg was decided in 

2006.  Furthermore, the Agencies’ interpretation of “waters of the United States” was 

also clearly established, except to the extent it was inconsistent with Rapanos.  See supra 

p. 36.  No court has ever held that applying that interpretation in light of Justice 

Kennedy’s standard, as this Court has done since 2006, would “raise constitutional 
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problems” under the Commerce Clause.  See Def. Br. at 21 (citing Clark v. Martinez, 

543 U.S. 371, 380 (2005).  As a result, the district court here did not apply “a novel 

construction of a criminal statute to conduct that neither the statute nor any prior 

judicial decision has fairly disclosed to be within its scope.”  Lanier, 520 U.S. at 266 

(emphasis added). 

The rule of lenity does not apply to a case like this.  Lenity is intended to 

protect a defendant from being “accountable for a violation of a statute whose 

commands are uncertain.”  United States v. Santos, 553 U.S. 507, 514 (2008) (plurality 

opinion).  But it requires more than simply “a division of judicial authority” over the 

limits of a statute.  Reno v. Koray, 515 U.S. 50, 64-65 (1995).  Instead, lenity applies only 

where there is a “grievous ambiguity or uncertainty in the statute such that the Court 

must simply guess as to what Congress intended.”  Barber v. Thomas, 130 S. Ct. 2499, 

2508-09 (2010); see Reno, 515 U.S. at 65; Perez-Guzman v. Lynch, 835 F.3d 1066, 1076 

n.5 (9th Cir. 2016).  And where Congress has delegated to an agency the authority to 

interpret a statute, the agency may resolve that ambiguity through regulation, 

providing the public with “sufficient warning” of the statute’s requirements.  Pacheco-

Camacho v. Hood, 272 F.3d 1266, 1271-72 (9th Cir 2001). 

Moreover, fair notice arguments “must be examined in the light of the facts of 

the case at hand.”  United States v. Harris, 705 F.3d 929, 932 (9th Cir. 2012).  Here, the 

evidence showed that Robertson was repeatedly warned that his activities required a 

  Case: 16-30178, 01/18/2017, ID: 10269518, DktEntry: 32, Page 51 of 71



42 

 

permit from the Corps.  See supra pp. 5-6, 17.  The district court found that “the 

government continues to reach out and tell him not to do what he’s doing because it 

may be a violation of the law, [but Robertson] goes ahead and does what he wants to 

do, and then he makes up the facts that he thinks justify the conduct that he has 

engaged in.”  Sentencing Tr. at 99 (ER 276); see id. at 85 (ER 262).  That makes this 

case even stronger for the government than Lanier, in which the defendant had 

“reasonable warning” that his conduct was illegal based on prior judicial glosses on a 

statute.  See 520 U.S. at 269.  Here, the trial court found that Robertson had actual 

warning from multiple state and federal officials that his specific conduct required a 

Clean Water Act permit. 

Robertson’s conviction was based on Justice Kennedy’s Rapanos standard, 

which was clearly sufficient under this Court’s law at the time of Robertson’s conduct 

and still is today.  His conviction was not unfair, let alone contrary to due process, just 

because a subsequent decision about a different statute opened the door for his novel 

(and ultimately meritless) Clean Water Act argument. 

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT’S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS WERE APPROPRIATE. 

The United States offered Todd Tillinger, the Corps of Engineers’ Montana 

Program Manager, as an expert “in the field of engineering and the identification and 

classification of streams and wetlands under the Clean Water Act.”  Tillinger Tr. at 

281 (ER 2686).  Tillinger testified from his personal knowledge, and his “scientific, 
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technical, or other specialized knowledge” helped the jury “to understand the 

evidence [and] to determine a fact in issue.”  Fed. R. Evid. 702(a).   

Robertson does not dispute Tillinger’s expertise or the facts or data on which 

he based his opinion.  Instead, Robertson contends that the “uncertainty in the law” 

makes it “impossible for an expert to opine on the subject” of Clean Water Act 

jurisdiction.  Def. Br. at 41.  He also argues that, as of 2006, “the EPA was without a 

functional set of regulations” defining Clean Water Act jurisdiction, and because the 

Agencies’ Guidance on jurisdictional determinations is not binding.  Def. Br. at 42. 

These arguments are wrong because the Corps’ practices in making 

jurisdictional determinations are based on several established sources of law, including 

the Agencies’ still-extant regulations.  Rapanos did not facially invalidate any part of the 

Agencies’ definition of “waters of the United States,” but only limited its use in 

particular cases.  All nine Justices in Rapanos recognized that the statutory phrase 

“waters of the United States” is ambiguous in some respects.  See Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 

752 (plurality opinion); id. at 758 (Roberts, C.J., concurring); id. at 780 (Kennedy, J., 

concurring); id. at 796 (Stevens, J., dissenting); id. at 811-12 (Breyer, J., dissenting); see 

also Riverside Bayview, 474 U.S. at 131.  The Agencies’ regulations interpreting that 

phrase remain in place, and this Court has continued to grant them deference under 

Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837, 843-44 (1984), except to the extent they 

conflict with the case law.  See San Francisco Baykeeper, 481 F.3d at 706.  The Rapanos 
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standards themselves are also relevant to Robertson’s conduct, and the Agencies’ 

guidance applying those standards provides their most current interpretation of the 

requirements of the Act.  See supra p. 36. 

The district court established that Tillinger would not be allowed to give the 

jury his opinion about the law, and the court itself gave the jury a clear instruction 

about the standard for Clean Water Act jurisdiction.  See Tillinger Tr. at 281 (ER 

2686); Instruction 22 (ER 835-36).  Addressing the same Clean Water Act argument 

that Robertson raises here, the Fourth Circuit has observed that it is often hard for 

individuals who are responsible for enforcing regulations to testify “without at least 

referencing the legal framework which motivated and justified their activities.”  United 

States v. Wilson, 133 F.3d 251, 265 (4th Cir. 1997).  But it is appropriate for the court to 

permit such testimony as long as “the jury [is] instructed on the law by the court and 

not by the witnesses.”  Id.  Here, the district court correctly instructed the jury on 

Justice Kennedy’s standard, and appropriately permitted Tillinger’s testimony as 

relevant to that standard.   

Tillinger’s testimony respected the line that the Fourth Circuit drew in Wilson 

and that the district court applied here.  He testified that he personally has done 

“hundreds” of jurisdictional determinations.  Tillinger Tr. at 280 (ER 2685).  He 

discussed how he evaluates whether a tributary flows into navigable waters and 

whether it has a “significant nexus” to those waters.  Id. at 283-89 (ER 2688-94).  He 
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described how aerial photographs and topographic maps showed a perennial stream 

flowing from the Mohawk and Manhattan Lode parcels to the navigable Jefferson 

River, id. at 292-94 (ER 2697-99), and he traced that line on photographs for the jury.  

Id. at 298-301 (ER 2703-06).  He pointed out the features of the area that indicated 

the presence of waters or wetlands.  Id. at 309-13, 320-24 (ER 2714-18, 2725-29).  He 

also explained how tributaries and wetlands have an effect on the temperature, flow, 

and ecology of downstream waters.  Id. at 313-14, 325-28 (ER 2718-19, 2730-33).  

And the summation of his opinion was not that the waters in question were or were 

not jurisdictional, but that they “have a significant nexus to the . . . Jefferson River.”  

Id. at 328 (ER 2733).  Overall, this was permissible testimony about the “history, 

practices, and procedures” that the Corps follows in making jurisdictional 

determinations, Wilson, 133 F.3d at 265, and how they relate to the characteristics of 

the waters at issue in this case. 

On cross-examination, Tillinger testified that one of his practices in evaluating 

the “physical characteristics of the channel” was to look for an ordinary high-water 

mark.  Tillinger Tr. at 337 (ER 2742).  Robertson argues that this reference 

disqualifies Tillinger’s testimony entirely because, according to Justice Kennedy’s 

Rapanos opinion, the presence of an ordinary high-water mark cannot be used as the 

“determinative measure” of whether “adjacent wetlands” are waters of the United 

States.  Rapanos, 547 U.S. at 781-82 (Kennedy, J., concurring) (quoted in Def. Br. at 
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43).  But the government’s evidence here demonstrated that Robertson discharged fill 

material into tributaries, and Justice Kennedy explicitly said that an ordinary high-

water mark “may well provide a reasonable measure” of whether a tributary has a 

significant nexus to with other regulated waters.  Id. at 781; Tillinger Tr. at 358-59 (ER 

2763-64).  Justice Kennedy also did not say that the Agencies may not consider the 

ordinary high-water mark along with other factors in assessing jurisdiction over wetlands.  

Considering an ordinary high-water mark is plainly not “expressly forbidden.”  Def. 

Br. at 46. 

Robertson claims that he should have been allowed to challenge Tillinger’s 

testimony using the Agencies’ guidance on identifying “waters of the United States.”  

See Def. Br. at 45-46.  The district court refused to allow Robertson to introduce the 

guidance manual as an exhibit, but allowed him to use it for other purposes, including 

reading it into evidence as a learned treatise used by an expert, see Order at 8-9 (ER 

176-77), and impeaching Tillinger’s reliability, see Tillinger Tr. at 338-43 (ER 2743-48).  

Robertson’s appeal here is based in part on the potential for jury confusion about the 

proper legal standard.  The district court’s ruling sought to avoid any such confusion, 

see Order at 8 (ER 176), while still allowing Robertson to explore the reliability of 

Tillinger’s testimony, see Def. Br. at 45.  This balance was within the court’s discretion. 

Finally, Robertson complains that he should have been allowed to introduce a 

document called the “Crystal Mine study” to show that the water quality of the 
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Cataract Creek drainage is already poor and that Robertson’s activities therefore did 

not degrade water quality.  See Def. Br. at 46-47.  The district court excluded that 

study as irrelevant because “the significant nexus test is not contingent on a healthy 

watershed.”  Order at 9 (ER 177).  This was correct; neither the Act itself nor any 

Rapanos opinion provides that the Act is inapplicable to waters that are already 

polluted.  To the contrary, one purpose of the Act is to “restore” such waters.  33 

U.S.C. § 1251(a).  Showing that water quality in the basin is poor would not establish 

that the stream and wetlands here have an “insubstantial connection” to navigable 

waters.  Def. Br. at 47.  It was therefore within the district court’s discretion to 

conclude that the prejudicial effect of the study outweighed any meager probative 

value it may have. 

V. ROBERTSON WAS NOT ENTITLED TO ACQUITTAL AS A MATTER OF LAW 

AFTER HIS FIRST TRIAL ENDED IN A HUNG JURY. 

Robertson appeals the district court’s denial of his motion for acquittal after his 

first trial on the grounds that the government’s evidence was insufficient to support a 

conviction.  See Def. Br. at 26-40.  Robertson is correct to observe, see id. at 26, that 

this Court has never squarely held that denial of such a motion may be appealed after 

the defendant is convicted at a second trial.  Other circuits have held that such a 

motion is improper.  Even if this Court disagreed, it should still affirm, because the 

government’s evidence at the first trial was sufficient. 
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A. Robertson may not appeal the sufficiency of evidence at his first 
trial.   

A motion for acquittal after a mistrial is most often based on the Double 

Jeopardy Clause:  If the evidence at a defendant’s first trial was insufficient as a matter 

of law, then he may not be tried again.  Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 10-11, 18 

(1978).  Despite this general rule, however, a retrial after a hung jury does not violate 

the Double Jeopardy Clause.  Richardson v. United States, 468 U.S. 317, 324 (1984).  

That is because the jury’s failure to reach a verdict “is not an event which terminates 

jeopardy.”  Id. at 325.  Furthermore, the denial of a motion for acquittal is an 

interlocutory order that may not be immediately appealed (despite its potential double 

jeopardy implications), so a retrial “will not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause 

regardless of the sufficiency of the evidence at the first trial.”  United States v. Gutierrez-

Zamarano, 23 F.3d 235, 237-38 (9th Cir. 1994); see Richardson, 486 U.S. at 326 n.6.5 

That leaves the question whether a motion for acquittal after a first trial may be 

appealed after conviction at the second trial.  Four courts of appeals have rejected 

such arguments on appeal, citing the Supreme Court’s double-jeopardy reasoning in 

                                           

5  Robertson suggests that a sufficiency-of-evidence argument is different from a 
double-jeopardy argument, see Def. Br. at 27, but he framed the issue below in terms 
of double jeopardy, see ER 2232-35, and the case law predominantly treats similar 
arguments as a double-jeopardy issue. 
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Richardson.  See United States v. Achobe, 560 F.3d 259, 266-67 (5th Cir. 2008); United 

States v. Julien, 318 F.3d 316, 321 (1st Cir. 2003); United States v. Willis, 102 F.3d 1078, 

1080-81 (10th Cir. 1996); United States v. Coleman, 862 F.2d 455, 460 (3d Cir. 1988).  

The First Circuit, for example, stated that a “defendant may not, on appeal from a 

judgment of guilt in a second trial following a mistrial, then raise a claim that he was 

wrongly denied his motion for acquittal on insufficiency of the evidence at the first 

trial.”  Julien, 318 F.3d at 321. 

In several cases, this Court has noted the issue without resolving it.  The court 

discussed the issue most fully in United States v. Recio, 371 F.3d 1093, 1103-05 (9th Cir. 

2004), considering whether a motion for acquittal, which had been denied after the 

defendants’ first trial, could be appealed after final judgment at their second trial to 

prevent a third trial.  The Court held that the defendants could raise that argument to 

prevent a third trial, and found that the government’s evidence at the first trial had 

been sufficient.  Id. at 1105.  As a result, the Court did not need to decide the question 

that Robertson presents – whether the defendants could have used “their first-trial 

insufficiency argument to challenge their second trial.”  Id. at 1104 n.9.  See also United 

States v. Schemenauer, 394 F.3d 746, 750-51 (9th Cir. 2005); Sarkisian, 197 F.3d at 982-85 

& n.7 (9th Cir. 1999). 

If the Court must decide this question here, it should follow its sister circuits in 

holding that a defendant, convicted at a second trial, may not challenge the sufficiency 
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of the evidence at his first trial.  However, as in Recio, the Court may decline to decide 

this complex legal question because the government’s evidence at the first trial was 

sufficient.  See infra pp. 51-55. 

If the court considers the sufficiency of the government’s evidence – either 

because it finds Robertson’s appeal to be proper, or in order to avoid that question – 

it must apply the correct standard of review.  “Viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the government, the Court must determine whether any rational jury 

could have found the defendant guilty of each element of the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt.”  United States v. Boykin, 785 F.3d 1352, 1359 (9th Cir. 2015).6  

Robertson appears to argue that that the mere fact of a hung jury indicates that the 

government’s proof left room for reasonable doubt and therefore was insufficient, or 

at least is not entitled to favorable inferences.  See Def. Br. at 30-31.  But he can cite 

no support for this novel proposition, and it would upset the longstanding rule that “a 

failure of the jury to agree on a verdict” does not preclude a second trial.  Richardson, 

468 U.S. at 323.  Even after a mistrial, “[t]he Government, like the defendant, is 

entitled to resolution of the case by verdict from the jury.”  Id. at 326.  Even if “at 

                                           

6  Robertson cites United States v. Bishop, 959 F.2d 820, 829 (9th Cir. 1992) to 
support a standard more favorable to him, but this Court overruled Bishop and 
reaffirmed the correct standard in United States. v. Nevils, 598 F.3d 1158, 1167 (9th Cir. 
2010) (en banc). 
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least one juror was unconvinced on the proof,” Def. Br. at 31, the evidence was 

apparently sufficient to persuade other reasonable jurors.  The mere fact of a mistrial 

cannot establish insufficiency of the government’s evidence. 

1. On Counts I and III, the jury could have found facts sufficient to 
convict under the prevailing legal standard. 

The district court here instructed the jury that “waters of the United States” are 

identified using Justice Kennedy’s “significant nexus” standard, and that the jury must 

“unanimously agree that the facts satisfy this definition.”  See Jury Instructions 14, 22 

(ER 827, 835-36).  The district court did not indicate to the jury that it should 

consider the Rapanos plurality’s standard.  For purposes of this argument, Robertson 

does not dispute that Justice Kennedy’s standard was the correct one, or even that the 

government’s evidence was sufficient to establish a Clean Water Act violation under 

that standard.  Instead, he argues that other evidence the government presented 

supported the plurality’s standard, thus confusing the jury by presenting “two 

contradictory theories” of jurisdiction.  See Def. Br. at 31-36.   

There may be a potential for jury confusion where the government has 

presented evidence of two separate illegal acts, only one of which is charged in the 

indictment.  See, e.g., United States v. Lapier, 796 F.3d 1090, 1096-97 (9th Cir. 2015).  

But in that case, the appropriate cure is a jury instruction, see id., not acquittal on the 
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basis of insufficient evidence.  The jury instructions here made clear what the jury 

must find to support a conviction. 

Furthermore, the government’s evidence at Robertson’s first trial was sufficient 

and not confusing.  Tillinger described how he performs jurisdictional determinations, 

see Tillinger Tr. at 280 (ER 2685), and the Agencies consider both Rapanos tests in that 

practice.  See supra p. 36.  But Tillinger did not suggest in his testimony that identifying 

“relatively permanent water” was sufficient to establish jurisdiction.  Instead, he 

described how upstream tributaries affect downstream waterways, and explained that 

“permanence on the landscape” is one factor that he uses to establish a connection to 

traditional navigable waters.  See Tillinger Tr. at 282-83 (ER 2687-88).  He then went 

on to testify, that under the “significant nexus test,” he must consider “is that 

connection significant?”  Id. at 285 (ER 2690).  That question, in turn, depends on the 

characteristics of the waters, including “physical features.”  Id. at 286 (ER 2691).  All 

of the testimony the jury heard was therefore relevant to the “significant nexus” 

standard, even if it might also be relevant to the plurality’s standard. 

2. On Count II, the government’s evidence was sufficient for the 
jury to identify Forest Service land. 

Robertson also contends that the government’s evidence at his first trial was 

insufficient on Count II, damage to Forest Service property, because it did not 
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establish the boundary between Forest Service land and private land.  The district 

court rejected this argument, see ER 2346-47, and this Court should do the same. 

Special Agent Fisher, one of the Forest Service’s investigators, testified for the 

jury about Government Exhibit 42, an aerial map of the relevant area showing 

property boundaries.  See supra p. 5.  She testified from her personal knowledge that 

she regularly conducts Forest Service investigations, that she had been to the Mohawk 

property on National Forest System land many times, and that she had observed 

Robertson’s excavations on that land.  Fisher Tr. at 93-96 (ER 2498-501).  She walked 

the jury through several photographs of the excavations, specifically confirming that 

they were on Forest Service land.  See id. at 100-01 (ER 2505-06).  She stated that she 

had done research on the property boundaries using “the GIS cadastral,” id. at 105 

(ER 2510), and that the Forest Service had surveyed the land lines between the 

Mohawk parcel and the Manhattan Lode.  Id. at 110-11 (ER 2515-16).   

The jury saw a similar map, Government’s Exhibit 27b, that was prepared by 

Scott Gillilan, a wetlands restoration expert.  See infra p. 54.  Gillilan testified that he 

had prepared that map using “a cadastral layer overlay to superimpose approximate 

parcel boundaries.”  Gillilan Tr. at 435 (ER 2840).  He testified that the shaded blocks 

on Exhibit 27b “represent different land ownerships from the cadastral, which is a 

State of Montana mapping product that’s available online.”  Id. at 437 (ER 2842).  
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The fact that the government used additional proof at the second trial does not 

establish that its first proof was inadequate.  See Def. Br. at 37-38.  The jury at 

Robertson’s first trial heard that his activities had occurred on Forest Service property 

from both Fisher and Gillilan, and it had sufficient information to understand the 

basis of their testimony.  A reasonable juror could conclude from this evidence that 

Robertson had injured property of the United States. 

VI. THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT’S AWARD OF 

RESTITUTION TO THE FOREST SERVICE. 

As part of Robertson’s sentence, the district court ordered him to pay 

restitution to the Forest Service of $129,933.50, at a rate of $400 per month.  See 

Sentencing Tr. at 37, 106 (ER 214, 283).  The district court awarded this restitution in 

part under the Mandatory Victims Restitution Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1361(c)(1)(A)(ii), based 

on Robertson’s conviction on Count II.  Id. § 1361; see Sentencing Tr. at 38-39 (ER 

215-16).  The district court also found statutory authority for restitution under Counts 

I and III.  18 U.S.C. § 3563(b)(2) allows the district court to order “restitution to a 

victim of the offense,” and this Court has upheld that discretion unless it goes 

“beyond the loss sustained by the Government as a result of the offense of 

conviction.”  Batson, 608 F.3d at 637.   

Robertson conceded below that restitution under Count II was available and 

contested only the amount.  See ER 586.  He contends that if his convictions under 
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Counts I and III are vacated, then his restitution should be recalculated.  See Def. Br. 

at 47-49.  This argument should be rejected because Robertson’s convictions under 

Counts I and III must be affirmed for the reasons discussed above.   

Even if Robertson’s convictions on those counts were reversed, however, the 

damage to Forest Service property that led to Robertson’s Count II conviction 

provides an adequate basis for the entire restitution award.  Robertson appears to 

suggest that if restitution were based only on Count II, then the government could 

seek restitution only for damage to Forest Service property.  See Def. Br. at 49.  But 

this Court has held that restitution requires a “broad view” and that the government is 

entitled to restitution for costs that were a “direct and foreseeable result of the 

defendant’s wrongful conduct.”  United States v. Phillips, 367 F.3d 846, 863-64 (9th Cir. 

2004).  Other circuits have held that the government can recover its financial losses 

for restoring damaged property even if it does not itself have an interest in the 

property.  See, e.g., United States v. Sawyer, 825 F.3d 287, 292 (6th Cir. 2016) (citing this 

Court’s decision in Phillips); United States v. Overholt, 307 F.3d 1231, 1254 (10th Cir. 

2002). 

The government’s proposed restitution was based on a single project that 

would occur on all three of the relevant properties.  See Sentencing Tr. at 37 (ER 214).  

The district court did not segregate the amount by the counts of the indictment or 

distinguish costs necessary to restore the Forest Service property from costs necessary 
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to repair the overall damage to the stream ecosystem.  See id. at 38-42 (ER 215-19).  

To the contrary, it found that “segregation would be difficult” because the upstream 

waters on Robertson’s property must be remediated in order to restore the value of 

the downstream waters on Forest Service property.  Id. at 40 (ER 217).  That finding 

of fact is reviewed here only for clear error, see Batson, 608 F.3d at 633, and would be 

sufficient to affirm the entire restitution award even if Count II were the only offense 

of conviction. 

VII. THE COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT’S ORDER THAT 

ROBERTSON BEAR PART OF THE COST OF HIS DEFENSE.   

Throughout his first and second trial, Robertson has been skillfully represented 

by court-appointed counsel.  Under 18 U.S.C. § 3006A(f), when the court determines 

that a defendant who has been furnished representation has funds available to pay 

counsel, the court may order the defendant to reimburse the court or the appointed 

attorney.  Here, a magistrate judge found that Robertson had paid a private attorney 

thousands of dollars to represent him in related civil matters and that his real property 

also had significant value.  See December 7, 2015 Reimbursement Order at 3 (ER 

2323).  The magistrate judge therefore found that Robertson “has sufficient funds and 

assets to make certain reimbursements to the government for the costs of his 

defense.”  Id.  The district court then found those assets sufficient to pay part of the 

cost of his defense.  January 15, 2016 Reimbursement Order (ER 2190-95). 
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Robertson alleges three errors in this process.  First, he claims that the 

“appearance of justice” is harmed when a defendant must pay for counsel in a trial 

that ends in a hung jury.  See Def. Br. at 51.  The authority he cites does not support 

that broad proposition.  In Fuller v. Oregon, 417 U.S. 40 (1974), the Supreme Court 

considered a state statute that required reimbursement from convicted defendants 

with the ability to pay, but not from acquitted defendants.  The Court held that this 

“legislative decision” did not violate the Equal Protection Clause.  Id. at 50.  In 

contrast, 18 U.S.C. § 3006A(f) reflects a different (and also permissible) legislative 

decision.  Where a defendant has the ability to pay counsel, that statute does not shift 

the cost of counsel from the defendant to the government just because a trial ends in 

a hung jury. 

Second, Robertson argues that the district court erred in assessing his ability to 

pay after his first trial rather than after he was convicted.  See Def. Br. at 51-52.  The 

passages of the Criminal Justice Act Guidelines that Robertson quotes in his brief do 

not support this argument, although a different paragraph of the Guidelines does 

suggest that the district court should order reimbursement “[a]t the time of 

sentencing, in appropriate circumstances.”  See Guidelines § 210.40.30(d).  Despite 

this non-binding guidance, Section 3006A(f) itself supports the timing of the district 

court’s ruling.  That statute provides that “[w]henever” the district court determines that 

the defendant has funds available to pay counsel, it “may” direct that a payment be 
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made.  18 U.S.C. § 3006A (emphasis added).  This statutory language left the district 

court with discretion to consider Robertson’s ability to pay after his first trial ended. 

Third, Robertson argues that the Presentence Investigation Report showed that 

he had no ability to pay a fine.  See Def. Br. at 53.  The Presentence Investigation 

Report was not before the district court at the time of its Reimbursement Order, and 

therefore had no bearing on the court’s exercise of its discretion in that Order.  And 

Robertson’s appeal brief does not contest the magistrate judge’s or the district court’s 

findings of fact concerning his actual ability to pay. 

CONCLUSION  

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm. 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 

The United States is not aware of any cases that meet the definition of “related 

cases” in Local Rule 28-2.6. 
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